141-307474-19 FILED
TARRANT COUNTY

7/19/2019 10:58 AM

OMAS A.
CAUSE NO. 141-307474-19 THD’IVSI'?‘I'RI?:TV\Ql:Egﬁ

VICTOR MIGNOGNA IN THE DISTRICT COURT

Plaintiff,

V.
141st JUDICIAL DISTRICT
FUNIMATION PRODUCTIONS, LLC,
MONICA RIAL, RONALD TOYE, and
JAMIE MARCHI

w W W W W W W W W W

Defendants. TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

MONICA RIAL AND RON TOYE’S MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO THE
TEXAS CITIZENS PARTICIPATION ACT

J posing with Mignogna in 2014

Q. And you don’t kiss on children anymore?

A. No.

Q. Do you agree with me that’s kind of creepy, right?
A. No.!

! See Excerpts of Deposition of Vic Mignogna (“Mignogna Depo.”), at p. 145 and Ex. 4 (“J was approximately 14
years old when she attended New York Comic-Con in 2014 and met Mignogna. She described the encounter as “really,
really uncomfortable.” She discussed how the voice actor put his hand underneath her zip-up sweatshirt and on her
waist for the initial photo. Then, thinking that the photo-taking portion was done, she was surprised when he asked
her to look toward the camera again. That’s when he put his face close to hers and then kissed her.”) (emphasis in
original).
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Pursuant to the Texas Citizens Participation Act (the “TCPA” or “Act”), Defendants
Monica Rial (“Ms. Rial”) and Ronald Toye (“Toye”) ( the “Moving Defendants”) respectfully
request that this Court dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Petition (the “Petition”) filed by Plaintiff Victor
Mignogna and award Moving Defendants all court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and a sizeable
sanction that sends the deterrent message Plaintiff so desperately needs to hear:

l.
INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff is a public figure and his lawsuit is an all-out assault on Ms. Rial’s and
Toye’s right of free speech to comment on a matter of public concern, i.e. Plaintiff’s conduct with
children and women both in public and — more insidiously — behind closed doors.

2. Plaintiff’s case is a textbook “Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation” or
“SLAPP.” Plaintiff is a famous actor, by his own admission one of the biggest names in his field:

One of the most prolific and sought-after voice actors in the business. Vic has

recorded hundreds of roles for animated features, TV series, and video games.?

In addition to commercial and broadcast music work, Vic’s supervised a wide

variety of private recording projects as well . . . from contemporary Christian to rap

... There’s no greater music than that which worships the Creator of all music! Vic

counts it a great joy and privilege to lead worship at venues around the country,

having produced several praise and worship albums.?

3. Plaintiff’s fame has long insulated him from accountability, despite over a decade
of reprehensible conduct.

4. In January 2019, Plaintiff had a starring role in what would become one of the
largest anime movies of all time, but this spotlight of international attention had the unintended

effect of exposing his dark past. Commenters on social media, industry publications, and even

2 See Exhibit P(1) https://www.vicsworld.net/voice.html.
3 See id. https://www.vicsworld.net/music.html.
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other voice actors began discussing long-running rumors of Plaintiff’s alleged pedophilia,
homophobia, anti-Semitism, and sexual harassment. As the public criticism grew, studios began to
investigate, “cons” (conventions where voice actors meet with fans and make a large part of their
living) began to disinvite him, and eventually two large Texas production studios publicly ended
their relationship with Plaintiff.

5. Plaintiff saw the writing on the wall and spurred his legion of fans to defend him in
order to minimize any public criticism. His fans have attacked any and all critics. Allied with an
internet shock jock who unleashes a nightly torrent of abuse, harassment, and vitriol online,
Plaintiff’s goal is clear: with enough abuse, harassment, and threats, Plaintiff’s accusers will fall
silent.

6. Plaintiff’s lawsuit is the hammer designed to smash Monica Rial and Jamie Marchi,
two well-known voice actors. If Plaintiff can silence these two women, those with less notoriety
and power will retreat into the shadows.

7. This case is exactly what the TCPA was designed to stop. Accordingly, the sanction
imposed by this Court should be commensurate with the gravity of Plaintiff’s actions, and

sufficient to curb his expressed intention to file more of these baseless SLAPP suits.
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1.
RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKROUND

A. Plaintiff’s First Known Assault Occurs Thirty Years Ago.*

8. Plaintiff graduated from Liberty University in 1986, taking his first job at Trinity
Christian Academy (leaving after one year).® He also had some relationship with “Lynchburg
Christian Academy” in 1989, where he paid special attention to one of his students (a female high
school sophomore) during the course of the school year.®

0. During the summer of 1989, Plaintiff invited this teenager to his home under the
guise of showing her a “Christian worship video.”” But what Plaintiff really wanted was sexual
relations with a teenager.® This ruse — inviting a potential victim to a secluded location under
false pretenses — would repeat itself. Fortunately, in this occasion, the young woman fended him

off.® He left Lynchburg, Virginia for Houston, Texas shortly thereafter.

4 The bravery that people are displaying to speak out about Mignogna cannot be overstated. Plaintiff has used fear and
intimidation to suppress the truth, and even now, through his attorney and allied shock jock, works to intimidate any
person who even thinks of coming forward against him. These witnesses are the “good people” who have refused to
“let evil triumph”: Robin Michelle Blankenship McConnell (“McConnell Aff.”) (Ex. B); Kara Edwards (“Edwards
Aff.”) (Ex. C); Lynn Hunt (“Hunt Aff.”) (Ex. D); Faisal Ahmed (“Ahmed Aff.”) (Ex. E); Mary Reese (“Reese Aff.”)
(Ex. F) Whitney Falba (“Falba Aff.”) (Ex. G); Neysha Perry (“Perry Aff.”) (Ex. H); Emmett Plant (“Plant Aff.”) (Ex.
1); Adam Sheehan (“Sheehan Aff.”) (Ex. J); Kelly Loftus (“Loftus Aff.”) (Ex. K) Michelle Specht (“Specht Aff..”)
(Ex. L); John Prager (“Prager Aff.”) (Ex. M); Monica Rial (“Rial Depo”) (Ex. N); and Ron Toye (“Toye Depo.”)
(Ex. O).

> See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 20-22 (Ex. A). Interestingly, his resume does not list his first job after college, Trinity
Christian Academy. See Ex. P(2) http://www.vicsworld.net/docs/professionalresume.doc

6 See McConnell Aff, 11 1-5 (Ex. B).

7 See McConnell Aff., 11 5-6.

8 See McConnell Aff., 11 8-9 (“Mignogna went into his bedroom and then came out shirtless and only wearing very
small and revealing shorts. | felt incredibly uncomfortable and realized that Mignogna did not have a ‘Christian
worship video’ to show me. Mignogna sat on the couch next to me and began putting his arms around me and

touching me. He pulled my hair out of my ponytail and started playing with my hair. Mignogna also started licking
my ear and stated, ‘Let’s just enjoy each other.” . . . After several verbal rejections, | was able to push Mignogna off
of me and leave. Mignogna was extremely upset at me and incredibly rude.”).

® See McConnell Aff., 1 9.

10 See McConnell Aff.,  11.
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B. Plaintiff Spends Twenty Years Cloaking Himself in the Guise of a Christian Actor
and Musician — This Persona is Far from the Truth.

10. Plaintiff describes himself as “a voice actor who has performed the voices of
animated characters for over 22 years, mainly in ‘anime’ productions.”! With over 350 actor
credits to his name'? he attends “approximately 35-40” cons every year and derives “a sizeable
income from appearance fees guaranteed by contract with the convention producers and from
signing autographs, taking photos with fans, and appearing on guest panels.”*?

11. Plaintiff is also an accomplished actor in front of the camera, writing, directing, and
starring in an award-winning web series based on Star Trek,* and currently filming three (3)
screen projects. ™ Plaintiff’s website also states that he has “produced over 20 independent albums,
and regularly works with artists in all styles of song.”*® Plaintiff has also long positioned himself
as a devout Christian.’

12.  His verified Twitter account has over 113,000 followers*® and he has a dedicated
fan club called the “Risembool Rangers,” a reference to one of his most famous characters.°

13. Plaintiff’s power and celebrity in the anime industry is such that few people will go

on the record concerning his conduct.?°

11 Petition at 1 10.

2 Mignogna Depo. at p. 242 (Ex. A).

13 Petition at { 14.

14 See Ex. P(3) https://www.startrekcontinues.com/.

15 See Ex. P(6) https://www.imdb.com/name/nm0586003/.

16See Ex. P(4) https://www.vicsworld.net/music.html.

17 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 237 (Ex A).

18 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 48-49; 239.

19 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 243 and Ex. 26. For reasons unknown, members of the Risembool Rangers refer to him
as “The Fuhrer,” including his mother. See Mignogna Depo. at p. 14-15; Ex. P(7).

20 See Mignogna Depo. Ex. 8 at p. 2; see also Edwards Aff., 1 13 (Ex. C).
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C. Those Who Work with Him Behind the Scenes Describe a Prima Donna Who Uses
His Celebrity to Pursue Young Women for Sex.

14. Plaintiff has a history (which he denies) of bans and/or being asked not to come
back to conventions.?! Of those in the know (and brave enough to speak on the record), prior to
this dispute Plaintiff was banned from Tekkoshocon,??Anime Central Convention,? Tekkoshocon
again,?* and more recently in 2019, Kawaii Kon and Anime Weekend Atlanta.?® He has been
conspicuously absent from the RTX convention for the last two years, despite being one of the
studio’s biggest stars.?

15. The Tekkoshocon ban in 2007 is particularly troublesome considering (a) he was
stalking a Japanese singer and voice actor (who had to move to a secret room with a security detail

to keep Vic from finding her), and (b) he was also caught with three underage females in his hotel

room.2” One security professional that has personally observed Plaintiff for years put it bluntly:

Based on my personal observations, personal interactions, and professional
experience and training as a security officer, | believe Mignogna is a sexual
predator. He does not pay attention to the age of anyone he talks to. If he is attracted
to you, he will make it known aggressively. Further, 1 observed a lot of
encroachment into other individual’s personal space. For example, | notice
Mignogna place a hand on the wall above a females’ heads, touching females on
the shoulders and the arms, and whispering in their ears. |1 observed this behavior
repeatedly with women and teenagers. . . .

I believe Mignogna has left a string of sexual assault victims across the country due
to his celebrity status that allows him to have ample opportunities to be
inappropriate. A lot of the smaller conventions put up with Mignogna, because they
know his fans will show up and spend a lot of money.?

21 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 101 (Ex. A).
22 See Hunt Aff., 1 6 (Ex. D).

23 See Hunt Aff., 1 2.

24 See Hunt Aff., 1 8.

% See Ahmed Aff., 16 (Ex. E).

2% See Mignogna Depo. at p. 103 (Ex. A).

27 See Hunt Aff., 11 7-8 (Ex. D); Prager Aff., 11 2-3 (head of security) (Ex. M); Falba Aff., 11 5-6 (Plaintiff was red
faced and kept repeating “he hadn’t done “anything wrong” or done “anything to them [the three young girls]”) (Ex.
G);

28 prager Aff., 11 5-7 (Ex. M).
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16. Moreover, eyewitness accounts of his inappropriate contact with convention-goers
are legion,?® resulting in convention attendees lodging complaints against him.*

17.  Although less concerning, multiple individuals describe Plaintiff as rude to staff
and having a bad reputation in the anime convention community. 3

18.  Contrary to the public persona he has created for himself, Vic’s behavior reveals
that he is not guided by Christian virtue.®
D. Plaintiff Assaults Monica Rial in 2007.

19. Ms. Rial is a rape survivor and voice actor who has worked in voice acting over the
last twenty (20) years, including with Plaintiff.33

20. In 2007, at Izumicon in Oklahoma City, Plaintiff invited Ms. Rial to his room to
“watch a video.” As Ms. Rial was distracted by the video, Vic grabbed her by her arms and began
aggressively kissing her, pushed her onto the bed, climbed on top of her and continued to
aggressively kiss her while holding her down.®* Notably, this is the same tactic that Plaintiff
employed in 1989.%°

21.  Outof fear for herself and her career, Ms. Rial chose to remain silent until it became

clear that Plaintiff had no intention of curbing his predatory behavior.3®

29 See Hunt Aff., 11 3-4 (including giving his phone number to young girls); Ahmed Aff., 19 3-4 (making cosplayers
uncomfortable) (Ex. E); Falba Aff., § 4 (requiring security guard to stand next to him at signing table and witnessing
hair pulling and inappropriate touching) (Ex. G); Perry Aff., 1 3-4 (stroking a convention participant’s leg, pulling
her hair, and whispering in her ear) (Ex. H); Plant Aff., 11 4-5 (Ex. 1); Sheehan Aff., 1 7 (“serial predatory tendencies™)
(Ex. J); Loftus Aff., § 4 (unwanted kiss) (Ex. K); Prager Aff., 15 (“sexual predator”) (Ex. M).

30 See Ahmed Aff., 11 4-5 (forcibly kissing two different attendees) (Ex. E); Loftus Aff., 11 5-6 (Ex. L).

31 See Hunt Aff., 11 2-5 (describing him as “high-risk guest” that requires monitoring around young girls and females);
19 (squeezing Ms. Hunt’s buttocks); § 10 (poor reputation) (Ex. D); Reese Aff., {1 17 (bad reputation) (Ex. F); Falba
Aff., 13-4 (terrible to staff) (Ex. G); Sheehan Aff., 1 4 (bad reputation) (Ex. J); Lotus Aff., 1 7 (poor reputation) (Ex.
K); Prager Aff., 1 7 (bad reputation) (Ex. M).

32 See Falba, 1 8 (requested religious service to talk about himself) (Ex. G); see Mignogna Depo. at p.131 (Ex. A).

33 See Rial Depo. at pp. 9-10, 29-31 (Ex. N).

34 See Rial Depo. at pp. 29-31, 61-62 (Ex. N); Mignoga Depo. at Ex. 20, pp. 5-6 (Interrogatory No. 4) (Ex. A).

3 See McConnell Aff., 11 5-6 (Ex. B).

3 See Rial Depo. at pp. 51, 54, 74-75 (Ex. N).
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E. Plaintiff Tries to Force Himself on Kara Edwards.

22, Plaintiff’s assault of Ms. Rial is similar to Plaintiff’s attempt to have sex with voice
actor Kara Edwards in 2008 and then again in 2010 (at the ShadoCon convention in Tampa,
Florida).3’ Plaintiff harassed and intimidated Ms. Edwards, ignoring her resistance — and his own
preexisting relationship — in hopes of pressuring another woman into compromising herself for
his pleasure.® Plaintiff again attempted to corner a vulnerable woman in a secluded place.

23. Ms. Edwards felt threatened, and that her career would suffer by rejecting his
advances.®® Nevertheless, she resisted Plaintiff’s aggressive attempts to bed her, and the following
day Plaintiff exacted his petty revenge on Ms. Edwards by interfering with her pre-scheduled
autograph signing.*® Ms. Edwards disclosed Plaintiff’s actions to Mary Reese the following day.**

24, Ms. Edwards has since attempted to avoid working on projects with Plaintiff, and
has declined to attend conventions when Plaintiff attends.*?

F. Plaintiff has a Decade of Admitted Infidelity and “Consensual” Sexual Activity in the
Anime Industry.

25. To the outer world, Plaintiff represented that he was in a committed relationship
with voice actress Michelle Specht (which ran from 2006 to 2018).** Not only did they live
together, they were engaged in 2010.%* During this time, Plaintiff:

a. Assaulted Ms. Rial,

b. Tried to have sex with Ms. Edwards on two separate occasions;

37 See Edwards Aff., 11 5-6 (“Open the door. Nobody has to know . . . Come on, Kara. Nobody has to know. You
know you want this.”); 1 10 (“Let me be sweet to you.”) (Ex. C).

®1d.

39 See Edwards Aff., 11 14-16.

40 See Edwards Aff., § 15.

41 See Edwards Aff., T 15; Reese Aff., 11 9-10 (Ex. F).

42 See Edwards Aff., 11 21, 23.

43 See Specht Aff., 11 2-3and Exs. 1-4 (Ex. L).

4 See Specht Aff., 1 3.
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c. Solicited sex from a prostitute;

d. Tried to have sex with two women (related by birth) at the same time during a
convention;

e. Had at least one ongoing sexual relationship while engaged to Ms. Specht; and

f. Made “mistakes” during the engagement with Ms. Specht, somewhere between
five and 50 times.*®

26. Despite Plaintiff’s prodigious sexual appetite, his bizarre explanation for why
people “make up” stories about him sexually assaulting them is they do it to “get attention.”®

Q. I mean, is there something about anything that you’ve done over the past 20
years in the voice acting community that would lend credence to people
thinking that maybe you were a sexual assaulter?

A. No. There are an awful lot of fans out there who are really desperate for
attention, and they often like to talk about people to get it.

Q. And so_your theory is that they make up stories about you sexually
assaulting them to get attention?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Wouldn’t it be better to say ‘I had sex with Vic’ to get attention, as opposed to
say ‘Vic assaulted me’?

A. Oh, I’msure, give it time, or if you haven’t seen it, I’m sure somebody out there
would say that.*’

27. It has become clear to Ms. Specht that Vic lied to her throughout their twelve-year
relationship, and that he used his fame and attendance at conventions to pursue sex with as many

of his young fans as he could.*® Vic has no words to express his shame for his conduct.

45 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 120-131, 140-41 (Ex. A).

46 Ironically, these desperate women seeking fame by slandering Vic do so anonymously, negating whatever fifteen
minutes of fame Vic believes his name guarantees.

47 Mignogna Depo. at p. 140 (emphasis added) (Ex. A).

48 See Specht Aff. at Ex. A (“ You systematically targeted dozens upon dozens of fangirls (most at least half your age)
with whom you first built trust - some over long periods of time online, some in a manner of minutes in person - and
made each one feel so very special and ‘chosen’ with the endless charm, attention, and mask of sincerity that abounds
when you want something - seduced them, propositioned them, and turned them into convention xxxxx - doing so in
every city and every country you went to - calling me afterward like you always did before you went to bed (sometimes
with them still in the room)... but you loved me, right? You used your STC and con buddies as regular ‘wingmen’ at
conventions to help arrange these hook-ups - xxxxxxxx your way from one cosplayer to another - one group to the
next - telling each one ‘I don’t usually do this - there’s just something about you’ - convincing them you didn’t need
to use condoms because “’hey were the only one’ or ‘don’t worry - I’m taken care of” - after which you would come
home and slip into our bed beside me as if nothing had happened... but you loved me, right?”) (Ex. L).

Notably, when Plaintiff responded to Ms. Specht—from a different email address—he did not deny the allegations,
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G. On January 16, 2019, Plaintiff’s Long History of Alleged Sexual Harassment,
Pedophilia, and Homophobia Erupt Online.

28. One of Vic’s most popular characters is “Broly” from the Dragon Ball Z series.*®
On January 16, 2019, a new Dragon Ball movie titled “Dragon Ball Super: Broly” premiered in
the United States, “earning $7 million on its first day and $24 million within the first five days of
its premier.”>° To date, the film has grossed over $30,700,000 in the United States box office alone,
and more than $88,000,000 worldwide.>*

29. The same day as the premiere “someone with the Twitter handle ‘hanleia’ . . .
accused Vic of being ‘a homophobic rude asshole who has been creepy to underage female fans
for over ten years....””2 The same user tagged Funimation with the question:

“*Hey @Funimation why do you employ a known pedophile’ and a link to
allegations of sexual misconduct by Mr. Mignogna at anime conventions.”>3

“The thread quickly spread with over 4,000 retweets . . . and over 400 comments, many relaying
their own negative experiences, including unwanted and unsolicited physical affection from”
Plaintiff.>

30.  This is not at all surprising, as Plaintiff admits receiving criticism for years for
kissing young girls, and acknowledges rumors of pedophilia dogging him well prior to January
2019.% His decade-long run of infidelity while in a relationship with Ms. Specht obviously did not

help matters.

and conveniently did not include the email from Ms. Specht in his response.
49 Petition at 7 13.

%0 Petition at 7 13.

51 See https://www.imdb.com/title/tt7961060/

52 Petition at { 15.

%3 See Funimation Productions, LLC”s Motion to Dismiss Under the TCPA (“Funimation MTD”), Affidavit of Karen
Mika (“Mika Aff.”), § 5 (incorporated as if herein).

54 See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 4, p. 2 (Ex. A).

%5 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 159-60, 171, 205-06, 228.

%6 See Specht Aff., Ex. 1 (Ex. L).
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1. Plaintiff weaponizes his fanbase, and issues several self-serving statements to
spin the narrative in his favor.

31. As allegations of misconduct intensified, and perhaps realizing the social climate
no longer supported his behavior, on January 19, 2019, Plaintiff arranged an online chat with the
Risembool Rangers.>” The instruction was clear: “do whatever you can do to counter all these lies
and negativity.”>®

32. Weaponizing his followers is a tried and true tactic for Plaintiff. For years, Plaintiff
has hosted what are in the anime community referred to as “rumor panels” in which he seeks to
“dispel” rumors about himself that are upsettingly similar to the communications at issue in this
dispute.®® For example, in July 2016, Plaintiff told the assembled fans at ANIME-zing! in
Davenport, lowa that women who made allegations against him are merely “unimportant” people
seeking attention that do “stupid, meanspirited, hateful things, just to get attention...All because
they want somebody to notice them.”®® “If somebody was sad and lonely and felt unimportant
enough and was so desperate for attention that they thought ‘I’m gonna say something about
somebody that a lot of people know just to get some attention.””%*

33.  On January 19, 2019, he sounded the call to arms for the Risembool Rangers.5?
Plaintiff explicitly refers to his “hugging” and “affectionate” demeanor, arming his supporters with

what continues to be his main defense: his accusers are desperate liars.®® He calls the allegations

against him “absurd” and “baseless garbage” leveled by a “tiny group of detractors,” as if the

57 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 147-152 and Ex. 26. This is similar to what Plaintiff did in 2010 when he hosted a
“rumor panel” to spin up his fans to defend him. See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 199-203 and Ex. 21.

%8 See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 26. Notably, Plaintiff did not share with his fans his decade long betrayal of Ms. Specht,
because what fan would support someone who is so shamelessly unfaithful.

%9 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 199 (Ex. A).

60 See https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DQ70N6zk9KM (starting at the 26:00 minute mark).

61 1d.

62 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 149-152 and Ex. 26.

83 See id.
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allegations would have more force had there been more women coming forward.®* And again, he

instructs his supporters to “do whatever you can do to counter all these lies and negativity.”%

34.  With his legions ready to pounce and armed with his talking points, Plaintiff issued

an “apology” the following day (the “January 20 Apology”) to address years of rumors concerning

his homophobia, anti-Semitism, and accusations of sexual harassment and pedophilia. ¢

Finally, any allegations of sexual harassment, sexual assault, or most disturbingly, pedophilia are COMPLETELY AND
UTTERLY FALSE. My heart weeps for anyone who endures a violation of this kind, so to be accused of harming
others in this way....| have no words.

2. The apology fails, and numerous articles outline what insiders have known for
years.

35. The attention from Dragon Ball Super: Broly, along with the ensuing firestorm

online (no doubt exacerbated by Plaintiff stirring up his fan base), in turn launched a series of

online articles recounting in excruciating detail the long history of Plaintiff’s poor reputation:

January 25, 2019, Polygon.com, ““Dragon Ball Super: Broly voice actor responds to sexual
harassment, homophobia claims:”

“Many conventiongoers’ stories continue to come out on social media, detailing times
when the actor acted flirtatiously towards them (fondling, kissing, groping, etc.) without
their consent, most while they were still underage. While these allegations are only just
picking up steam, many of them go as far back as 2010. In addition to the sexual harassment
claims, Mignogna’s alleged homophobic behavior remains a concern with anime fans.”®’

January 30, 2019, Anime News Network, “‘Far from Perfect’: Fans Recount Unwanted
Affection from Voice Actor Vic Mignogna.”

“A Twitter thread posted on January 16 accused dub voice actor Vic Mignogna of
homophobia, rude behavior, and most concerning, making unwanted physical advances on
female con-goers.”%®

February 1, 2019, thedaoofdragonball.com/blog, “Fixing the Staircase: Vic Mignogna’s
Sexual Assault Allegations and the Voice Actors Who Speak Out™

&4 1d.

8 See id.
% See Mignogna Depo. at p. 204 and Ex. 14(Ex. A).
57 See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 2, p. 4.

% See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 4, p. 1 (emphasis in the original).
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“Vic Mignogna, the voice of Broly in Dragon Ball Super, has been accused of sexually
assaulting women at anime conventions. . . . However, numerous allegations of sexual
assault have shadowed Mignogna’s career and continue up to today. During the research
for this article, over 100 independent allegations surfaced, dating back to 2003.”%°

. February 19, 2019, Gizmodo.com, “One of Anime’s Biggest Voices Accused of Sexual
Harassment.”

“Stories about Mignogna have been circulating online for over a decade, including through
the Tumblr blog Dear Vic Meggnogna, but the latest round of accusations started surfacing
around mid-January of this year. 109 spoke with more than 25 voice actors, cosplayers,
industry professionals, convention employees, and former fans about their experiences
with Mignogna. Many of them asked not to be named in fear of retaliation from Mignogna
or his fanbase. . . .”"°
36. Unbeknownst to the public at large, Funimation conducted an investigation into
Plaintiff’s behavior, including interviewing Ms. Rial and three (3) others, found his explanations
unconvincing and quietly terminated its relationship with him on January 29, 2018.7

37. Plaintiff concedes (as he must) the foregoing articles are defamatory and damaged

his reputation (collectively, the “Defamatory Articles”). "

% See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 5, p. 5.
0 See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 8 at p. 2 (Ex. A).

1 See Mika Aff., 1 7 (“On or about January 29, 2019, Tammi Denbow reported to me and Trina Simon that Ms.
Denbow had found that certain allegations of inappropriate conduct made against Mr. Mignogna were credible.”);
Rial Depo. at pp. 27-31 (Ex. N); Affidavit of Tammi Denbow (“Denbow Aff.”), 1 2-5 attached as Exhibit B to the
Funimation MTD, and incorporated as if herein.

72 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 142-43, 156-157, 164, 230-31 (“Q. You would agree with me that if you don’t sue those
magazines, your reputation is still going to be damaged because you’ll never -- A. Oh, | would say my reputation has
been irreparably damaged. Q. And because of those articles, correct? A. No, sir, because of everything. All of it. It’s
a cumulative thing. Didn’t you use -- like the term you used, death by a thousand cuts, you know.”) (emphasis
added). Obviously, if the allegations are true the articles are not defamatory. That of course explains why Plaintiff has
not sued any of the authors and/or their publishers.
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H. Plaintiff’s Poor Reputation in General, Refusal to Acknowledge that Kissing Children
is Improper, Twitter Firestorm, and Defamatory Articles Take Their Toll—Two
Major Anime Studios Terminated their Association with Plaintiff, Causing Plaintiff
to Lose Multiple Conventions by February 6, 2019.

38.  On February 5, 2019, anime studio Rooster Teeth publicly terminated its
relationship with Plaintiff.”

39. Between January 18, 2019 and February 6, 2019, Plaintiff lost ten (10) convention
invites.”

40. On February 11, 2019, Funimation publicly terminated its relationship with

Plaintiff.”

l. Plaintiff Sends a Faux Apology to Ms. Rial to Set Up and Generate Sympathy with a
Public Apology.

41.  On February 8, 2019, Plaintiff sent an email to Ms. Rial under the guise of wanting
to know what he did wrong.”® Notably, he did not send an apology email to the other three (3)
women who were part of the Funimation investigation.’’

42.  On February 13, 2019, two days after Funimation’s public termination, Plaintiff
issued another Twitter apology, in which he stated that it was not his place to contradict people if
they claim that he has made them feel uncomfortable.’® But this time, Plaintiff specifically drags

his “colleagues” into the public fray.”

73 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 104, 108-09 and Ex. 6.

4 See Petition, 11 20, 22-23, and 25-27; Ex. Q (demonstrative highlighting the loss of conventions in relation to the
Defamatory Articles).

5 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 111, 180 and Ex. 7. Within Funimation there were security locks installed to separate

employees from voice actors that were referred to as “Vic Locks” for the obvious reasons identified herein. See
Sheehan Aff., 1 6 (Ex. J).

6 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 208 and Ex. 14 (Ex. A). Notably, Plaintiff contends, even at his deposition on June 26,
2019, not to know what he did to Ms. Rial. See id, (“I am embarrassed to say that | honestly don’t know. | hope you
will share it with me so that | may sincerely apologize.”). No one should expect an apology, sincere or otherwise, from
Plaintiff.

7 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 54.

78 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 206 and Ex. 16.

®1d.
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J. An Amateur Internet “shock jock” Injects Himself into the Controversy and Raises
Over $225,000 to Help Grind the Defendants into Dust.

43. Nick Rekieta, an internet shock jock, is a Minnesota resident who manages a
channel on YouTube and is allegedly a practicing lawyer and “journalist.”8°

44, Sometime in February 2019, allegedly out of the blue, this shock jock contacted
Plaintiff directly to express his support for Vic’s “plight.”8! On February 19, 2019, Rekieta set up
a Go Fund Me campaign for the purpose of funding lawsuits against “MANY possible defendants,”
including bloggers, corporations, and pseudo-anonymous keyboard warriors (the “GFM War
Chest”): 8

This Fund is set up for Vic’s legal defense fees. There are MANY possible
defendants in different jurisdictions, from boring bloggers to multi-million, even
multi-billion dollar corporations. It takes an agile and experienced (read: not cheap)
legal team to coordinate this kind of strategy.

I AM NOT REPRESENTING VIC IN A LEGAL CAPACITY, but | am aware of
the team who is and will coordinate this fund to pay for Vic’s legal fees. Litigation
costs are highly dependent on the actions of your opponents, so I’m hoping to raise
enough to account for that. We will announce the disposition of any extra funds
candidly and provide updates on the usage of funds to the extent that such
information can be made public.

BUT IT’S TIME TO FIGHT BACK. Brigades of pseudo-anonymous keyboard
warriors cannot be allowed to defame and destroy decades of goodwill on rumor
and unverifiable allegation. Companies cannot rely on non-credible accusations and
devastate a career for virtue points.%

80 https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCbkjX3EOIhuUfPzL OFjSPaw Rekieta does not appear to have any relevant
experience in defamation disputes. See Ex. P(1). Nor, unsurprisingly, any investigative journalist credentials.

81 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 33-34. The exact genesis of this relationship between Plaintiff and shock jock is unknown
because Plaintiff—even after this litigation began—has a pattern and practice of deleting relevant text
communications. See Mignogna Depo. at 34-35, 261-62.

82 See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 11.

8 This last sentence, juxtaposed against the rumors and evidence cited herein about Plaintiff, irrefutably demonstrates
shock jock’s lack of prior investigation into Plaintiff’s reputation in the anime industry. It also undermines any
assertion of credible, investigative skills.
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45.  On February 20, 2019, Plaintiff told his 113,000 Twitter followers that he
“approved” the creation of the GFM War Chest.3* Plaintiff acknowledges that his previous
statements had been intended to silence his critics, but that he had failed to do so.® Plaintiff refers
to Rekieta as a “friend,” and directs his dedicated fans to donate their funds for his retaliatory
lawsuit.®® The motive for the GFM War Chest, as explained by shock jock:

There are hundreds of hours of video of my motives for contributing to the GoFundMe
War Chest, the er of, of creating it, not contributing to it. The biggest one is I just don’t
like any of the defendants and I think they’re terrible people, and I want to see them ground
into dust. Because when you lie to take away a man’s livelihood you deserve to be ground
into dust. You are scum and you know it. That’s why | created it.%’

46.  Capitalizing on the sensationalism of this dispute, shock jock has used his YouTube
show mainly to generate money for himself, and secondarily to threaten the disclosure of personal
information of any witnesses hostile to Plaintiff:

“Hey Pretty Ugly Little Liars. | know you’re watching even though you’re never
ever understanding. But, just in case you don’t realize what that means. Is that if
any of your identities are discerned by the court...it might not even be me. It
might be Casey leaking them to Shane that makes them public. That would be a
real shame. That would be a real shame. If uh like your workplace, like let’s
say there was someone who emailed a convention or a signing event or something,
and it was easy to ascertain where they worked. Like imagine what happens
when that person who goes out and lies about someone to get their job ruined, that
person’s email and workplace gets exposed to the internet. | just...it’s the
weirdest thing on earth that they would ask for this.”8® (emphasis added).

47. True to his word, Rekieta’s and Vic’s fans have embarked on a terrifying campaign

of harassment and threats of Defendants and several witnesses.®® This, combined with Plaintiff’s

8 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 41 and Ex. 17 (Ex. A).

8 See Mignogna Depo. Ex. 17 (Ex. A).

% See id.

87 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aaazoGTvqZU (starting at the 50:30 minute mark).

8 See Ex. P(8). Pretty Ugly Little Liars is a website that has collected dozens of articles on Plaintiff’s inappropriate
activities. See Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 25 (Ex. A).

8 See Ahmed Aff., 115, 7 (Ex. E); Plant Aff., 1 6 (Ex. 1); Edwards Aff., { 25 (Ex. C); Rial Dec. (Ex. R), 1 3.
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intent to sue others in the future, has created a toxic public debate, instigated by Plaintiff and his

online proxies.®

K.

Prior to Filing Suit, Vic’s Friend Proposes an Agreement to Avoid Litigation: Plaintiff
will Publicly Declare Himself a “Sex Addict” if Ms. Rial and Ms. Marchi will Recant.

48. On March 6, 2019, Plaintiff’s longtime friend Chuck Huber, whom Plaintiff claims

is a truthful person,®! floated a proposed statement that Plaintiff would issue in exchange for Ms.

Rial and Ms. Marchi effectively recanting their public statements:

and Ms

From Vic Mignogna

My name is Vic Mignogna and | am a sex addict. Addict behavior is, by its
nature, is hurtful and mostly unseen by the addict. I am working with a therapist to
understand my addiction and to get healthy. I have never intended to hurt anyone
but it so obvious now that I did. To the people | hurt, there are no words that will
suffice. All I can say is that this experience has permanently moved me toward a
better path and | am doing my best to be a better person. I am sorry and will make
amends wherever possible. To the fans who continue to harass and threaten,
you are not my fans if you do this. Your behavior needs to change every bit as
much as mine does. Like me, you should be given the opportunity to change. | am
working everyday to be the same on the outside as | am on the inside. | only ask for
the opportunity to demonstrate that | have changed and to continue the work | so
dearly love. | am canceling my appearance at Anime Matsuri and am taking a leave
from all convention appearances until, in conjunction with my therapist, I am ready
to come back. I will take my recovery and return one day at a time. (emphasis
added).%

49. Huber even references the “legal team” as requiring a statement from Ms. Marchi

. Rial, and the belief that shock jock “would be onboard.”%

50. Ms. Marchi and Ms. Rial refused to agree to the proposed statements because they

were untruthful.® And they refused even though Huber previewed the vicious online assault that

90 See id.
91 See M

; see also Mignogna Depo. at Ex. 4, p.1.
ignogna Depo. at pp. 71-72.

92 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 81-84, 86-89 and Exs 12-13 (Plaintiff admits to seeing the email but not “authorizing™
it to be sent) (Ex. A); Rial Dec, 1 2 (Ex. R).

9B See M
9 See id.

ignogna Depo. at Ex. 13;
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Plaintiff would unleash:
And please don’t mistake this as some weakness on their part. This is my efforts to
try and stop something | know will be very damaging. They have a full court press
prepared that is not a minor effort. They will be extremely thorough in both the
legal and social spheres.®
51. Deterring these types of scorched-earth tactics, waged by a powerful man lashing
out at his victims, is the precise reason the TCPA exists.

1.
ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. Applicable Standards Under the TCPA.

The stated purpose of the TCPA is to “encourage and safeguard the constitutional rights of
persons to petition, speak freely, associate freely, and otherwise participate in government to the
maximum extent permitted by law and, at the same time, protect the rights of a person to file
meritorious lawsuits for demonstrable injury.” Because the TCPA provides a procedure for
expeditiously dismissing a legal action that “is based on, relates to, or is in response to the party’s
exercise of the right to free speech [or] the right to association, Courts “construe [the TCPA]
liberally to effectuate its purpose and intent fully.”®’

The TCPA defines exercise of the right of free speech as any communication made in
connection with a matter of public concern.®® A matter of public concern means any issue related
to health or safety, environmental, economic, or community well-being, a government or public

figure, or a good, product, or service in marketplace.®

% See id.

% TeX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.002; Hersh v. Tatum, 526 S.W.3d 462, 466 (Tex. 2017).
9 Tex. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.011(b).

% |d. at § 27.001(3) (emphasis added).

% |d. at § 27.001(7).
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The TCPA broadly defines “communication” as “the making or submitting of a statement
or document in any form or medium, including oral, visual, written, audiovisual, or electronic.”*®
The TCPA does not require that communications at issue specifically mention a matter of public
concern or have more than a tangential relationship to such a matter to qualify under the TCPA’s
right of free speech; rather, it applies so long as the movant’s statements are in connection with
issues related to any of the matters of public concern listed in the statute.*

The TCPA further defines exercise of the right to association to mean “a communication
between individuals who join together to collectively express, promote, pursue, or defend common
interests.”%2 Multiple courts have determined that legal actions implicating the right of association
within a group or organization meet the first step of the TCPA. 1%

If the movant “shows by a preponderance of the evidence that the legal action is based on,
relates to, or is in response to the party’s exercise of the right to free speech [or] the right to

association,” then the burden shifts to the non-movant to establish “a prima facie case for each

essential element of the claim in question” through clear and specific evidence.'% “In determining

whether a legal action should be dismissed under this chapter, the court shall consider the pleadings
and supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts on which the liability or defense is

based.”1%

100 19, at § 27.001(1).

101 ExxonMobil Pipeline Co. v. Coleman, 512 S.W.3d 895, 900 (Tex. 2017).

102 Tex. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.001(2).

103 See Backes v. Misko, 486 S.W.3d 8, 20 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2015, pet. denied) (conspiracy amongst friends to
defame implicates right of association); Elite Auto Body LLC v. Autocraft Bodywerks, Inc., 520 S.W.3d 191, 205-206
(Tex. App.—Austin 2017, pet. dism’d) (conspirators within a company (allegedly misusing trade secrets) trying to
recruit others to the company implicates right of association); Abatecola v. 2 Savages Concrete Pumping, LLC, 2018
WL 3118601, at *7-8 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] June 26, 2018) (mem. op.) (conspiracy between company
and its new employee to tortious interfere with new employees’ former contract implicates right of association).

104 Tex. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE at § 27.005(b) and (c) (emphasis added); Hersh, 526 S.W.3d at 466, 468.

105 1d. at § 27.006(a).

MONICA RIAL’S AND RON TOYE’S TCPA MOTION TO DISMISS PAGE 19



Clear and specific evidence means more than the standards traditionally associated with
notice pleading.'% Plaintiff must do more than provide fair notice of his claims; he must come
forward with enough detail to show the factual basis for his claims.’

Even if the non-movant can make such a showing, the court still must dismiss the action
“if the moving party establishes by a preponderance of the evidence each essential element of a
valid defense to the nonmovant’s claim.”1%

If the motion to dismiss is granted, the court must award to the movant: (1) its court costs,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, and other expenses incurred in defending the action as justice and
equity may require; and (2) sanctions against the party who brought the action as the court
determines are sufficient to deter that party from bringing similar actions.'®® A party seeking
dismissal under the TCPA may also seek findings regarding whether the legal action was brought
to deter or prevent the moving party from exercising constitutional rights and is brought for an
improper purpose, including to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or to increase the cost of
litigation. 10

B. This Lawsuit is Based on the Moving Defendants’ Exercise of their Right of Free
Speech.

It is axiomatic that the Petition implicates a matter of public concern.'!! Twitter statements
concerning Plaintiff’s improper behavior (exacerbated by his own public comments),*!? coupled

with turning his shock jock loose to further fan the flames, perpetuated this controversy.!*® All of

106 | re Lipsky, 460 S.W.3d 579, 590-91 (Tex. 2015).
107 See id.

108 Tex. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.005(d).

109 1. at § 27.009.

110 1d. at § 27.007(a).

11 Hersh v. Tatum, 526 S.W.3d 462, 467 (Tex. 2017) (“When it is clear from the plaintiff’s pleadings that the action
is covered by the Act, the defendant need show no more.”).

112 See Petition, passim; Mignogna Depo. at Exs. 14, 16, and 27 (Ex. A); Lane v. Phares, 544 S.W.3d 881, 889 (Tex.
App.—Fort Worth 2018, no pet. h.).

113 See supra Section |1, {1 22-44.
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Plaintiff’s claims against the Moving Defendants are based on, relate to, or are in response to
Moving Defendants’ exercise of the right of free speech through their online communications.
Moreover, the communications Plaintiff seeks to silence concern his numerous improper
interactions with young women and children at conventions attended by thousands of people,
implicating health or safety and the well-being of the local, national, and international community
of fans who attend these conventions.!*

When asked about whether his credibility has been hurt by Moving Defendants’ tweets,
Plaintiff candidly admitted that “[t]here’s a matter of public perception that I think we can all agree
is -- is pretty prevalent and powerful these days”*'® and the “allegations surrounding [his] alleged
homophobia, anti-Semitism, and sexual harassment are being discussed publicly....”*'® Plaintiff
admits that he does not know whether he is suing for monetary damages, and has “not discussed
any numbers of any kind of monetary anything.”*'"This lawsuit is to “stop people from -- to -- to
end the public attacks, and to somehow reach an agreement where these people do not contact
events and production companies to try to keep me from working and making a living.”*8

And to grind the Defendants into dust.°

C. This Lawsuit is Based on the Moving Defendants’ Exercise of their Right of
Association.

The TCPA mandates that the Court dismiss a legal action against a moving party if the

action is based on, relates to, or is in response to the party’s exercise of the right of association.*?°

114 See Mignogna Depo. at p. 24; see, e.g., Lane, 544 S.W.3d at 889; Backes, 486 S.W.3d at 20 (holding that internet
post about child’s safety and health status concerned “health and safety” under TCPA); Bilbrey v. Williams, No. 02-
13-00332- CV, 2015 WL 1120921, at *8-9 (Tex. App.—Fort Worth Mar. 12, 2015, no pet.) (holding defendants’
statements about plaintiff’s alleged threats to members of community involved “health and safety” under TCPA).

115 Mignogna Depo. at p. 29.

116 Mignogna Depo. at p. 30.

117 Mignogna Depo. at 91:23-92:5.

118 Mignogna Depo. at pp. 89, 91-92.

119 See supra Section |1, § 42.

120 See MacFarland v. Le-Vel Brands LLC, No. 05-16-00672-CV, 2017 Tex. App. LEXIS 2569, at *19 (Tex. App.—
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To be an exercise of the right of association, a communication must be “between individuals who
join together to collectively express, promote, pursue, or defend common interests.”'?! The
Moving Defendants have the right to associate among themselves and communicate with others
who have experienced Plaintiff’s abuse and inappropriate behavior, and to communicate about
those common interests within the larger anime community.*??

D. Plaintiff Cannot Show Clear and Specific Evidence Establishing Each Essential
Element of His Claims Against the Moving Defendants.

After the movant “shows by a preponderance of the evidence that the legal action is based
on, relates to, or is in response to the party’s exercise of the . . . right of association” then the
burden shifts to the non-movant to establish “a prima facie case for each essential element of the
claim in question” through clear and specific evidence.'?® “Clear and specific evidence” of each
essential element of a claim is more than “mere notice pleading.”*?* In order to carry his burden,
Plaintiff must “provide enough detail to show the factual basis for [his] claim.”*?® Conclusory
allegations do not pass muster under the TCPA. 2

1. Plaintiff cannot show clear and specific evidence for his defamation claims
against the Moving Defendants.

To prevail on his claims for defamation against the Moving Defendants, Plaintiff must
prove that (a) the Moving Defendants published a false statement of fact; (b) the statement defamed

the plaintiff; (c) the Moving Defendants acted with actual malice; and (d) the statement

Dallas Mar. 23, 2017, no pet.) (citing TEX. Civ. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.005(b)).

121 TEX. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.001(2).

122 Backes, 486 S.W.3d at 20.

123 TEX. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.005(b) and (c) (emphasis added); Hersh, 526 S.W.3d at 466, 468.
124 In re Lipsky, 460 S.W.3d 579, 590 (Tex. 2015).

125 1d. at 590-91.

126 1d. at 592-93.
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proximately caused damages.*?’ Because Plaintiff is a public figure, he must show that Moving
Defendants acted with actual malice.!?®

Plaintiff is a public figure given his “pervasive fame or notoriety” such that he is “a public
figure for all purposes and in all contexts.”*?® Alternatively, he is a limited purpose public figure
with respect to the issue of his reputation in the anime industry, by voluntarily injecting himself
into the public debate about his misconduct in order to influence public perception among his fans,
animation studios, and convention organizers.*3

Plaintiff publicly inserted himself into the dispute on at least four separate occasions: (1)
on January 19, 2019 when he encouraged his followers to do whatever they could to counter the
“lies;” (2) broadcasting apologies on January 20, 2019 and February 13, 2019; (3) submitting a
written statement for inclusion in the Gizmodo article published on February 4, 2019; and (4)
endorsing the GFM War Chest on February 20, 2019.%3!

This generated significant media coverage since filing his lawsuit, including a
conspicuously timed feature in Variety released on the same day he filed the Petition.'3? Clearly
Plaintiff has more than a trivial or tangential role in the controversy, and has actively sought to

influence the controversy through the media.**3

127 See Anderson v. Durant, 550 S.W.3d 605, 617-18 (Tex. 2018).

128 See St. Amant v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968).

129 Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 351 (1974).

130 See supra Section |1, 1 10-12; Gertz, 418 U.S. at 351.

131 See supra Section 11, 1 30-36, 40-43; WFAA-TV, Inc. v. McLemore, 978 S.W.2d 568, 572-73 (Tex. 1998) (“By
publishing your views you invite public criticism and rebuttal; you enter voluntarily into one of the submarkets of
ideas and opinions and consent therefore to the rough competition in the marketplace.”) (citations omitted); Mohamed
v. Ctr. for Sec. Policy, 554 S\W.3d 767, 775 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2018, pet. denied) (“by choosing to engage in
activities that involved increased public exposure and media scrutiny, Mohamed and A.M. played more than a trivial
or tangential role in the controversy”).

132 See Ex. P(8) https://variety.com/2019/gaming/news/vic-mignogna-sues-funimation-1203193225/.

133 WFAA-TV, Inc. v. McLemore, 978 S.W.2d 568, 572-73 (Tex. 1998). The dispute has even attracted the attention
of North Carolina attorney Greg Doucette https://twitter.com/greg_doucette/status/1139656018261086214 along with
over fifty attorneys from around the United States that comment on updates in the case, analyze the legal issues, and
respond to Plaintiff’s supporters in a thread called the “Threadnought.
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Plaintiff cannot show with any certainty that any communication attributable to Moving
Defendants caused him any specific harm, especially as distinct from the numerous other sources
of allegedly defamatory statements made in publications, lists online, or due to his being fired by
Funimation and Rooster Teeth.3* In fact, Plaintiff acknowledges that he is unable to provide clear
and specific evidence that Moving Defendants’ communications have defamed him or cost him to
lose any work, describing his reputation as having suffered a “death by a thousand cuts....”*®
Plaintiff’s reputation, such as it was, may in fact be dead, but he cannot show by clear and specific
evidence that Moving Defendants’ communications caused that death.

The Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s defamation claims.

2. Plaintiff cannot show clear and specific evidence for his claims of tortious
interference with contract against the Moving Defendants.

For his tortious interference with contract claim to succeed, Plaintiff must show: (1) that
an existing contract subject to interference exists; (2) that the alleged act of interference was willful
and intentional; (3) that the willful and intentional act proximately caused damage; and (4) that
actual damage or loss occurred. '3 Plaintiff never had, prior to filing this lawsuit, any evidence the
Moving Defendants caused him to lose any conventions.*®’

The Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s tortious interference with contract claims.

(https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1gNofncCm7DBcmDg3qVwhTonjHVJRIJCile7Td43xTNo/edit#gid=16058
4561) (Ex. S).

134 See Bos v. Smith, 556 S.W.3d 293, 307-08 (Tex. 2018) (“Grandfather’s statement to DFPS was but a small part in
the plethora of negative accusations against him by Mother and Bruno, most of which concerned false sexual-abuse
allegations against his sons. Indeed, as the trial court found, Mother’s defamation and wrongful detention of Mike was
“the primary and root cause of damagesawarded in this judgment.” Father linked none of his damages to
Grandfather’s specific statements.”).

135 Mignogna Depo. at p. 231 (EX. A).

136 prydential Ins. Co. of Am. v. Fin. Review Services, 29 S.W.3d 74, 77 (Tex. 2000); ACS Inv’rs, Inc. v. McLaughlin,
943 S.W.2d 426, 430 (Tex. 1997).

137 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 110, 141, 157, 172-173, 206 (Ex. A).
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3. Plaintiff cannot show clear and specific evidence for his claims of tortious
interference with prospective business relations against the Moving
Defendants.

For his claims for tortious interference with prospective business relations to succeed,
Plaintiff must show: (1) there was a reasonable probability that the plaintiff would have entered
into a business relationship with a third party; (2) the defendant either acted with a conscious desire
to prevent the relationship from occurring or knew the interference was certain or substantially
certain to occur as a result of the conduct; (3) the defendant’s conduct was independently tortious
or unlawful; (4) the interference proximately caused the plaintiff injury; and (5) the plaintiff
suffered actual damage or loss as a result.**®

Like the tortious interference with contract claims, Plaintiff never had a basis to bring these
claims.®®® The Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s tortious interference with prospective contract

claims.

4. Plaintiff cannot show clear and specific evidence for his claims of conspiracy
against the Moving Defendants.

Incorporating by reference and applying the facts and rationale associated with Plaintiff’s
claims for defamation detailed herein, Moving Defendants respectfully submit that Plaintiff’s
claim for conspiracy necessarily fails for the same reason.*° Moreover, if the Moving Defendants
are actually employees of Funimation (which they are not), the conspiracy claim is effectively self-

defeating.14!

138 Coinmach Corp. v. Aspenwood Apartment Corp., 417 S.W.3d 909, 923 (Tex. 2013).
139 See Mignogna Depo. at pp. 110, 141, 157, 172-173, 206 (Ex. A).

140 See Schoellkopf v. Pledger, 778 S.W.2d 897, 900 (Tex. App.—Dallas 1989, writ denied) (observing that “the jury’s
findings on conspiracy are relevant only if we find in [appellee’s] favor on one of the other tort theories pleaded,” and
holding that because appellee “failed to establish any other substantive tort, . . . there is no independent liability for
conspiracy”).

141 See Texas-Ohio Gas, Inc. v. Mecom, 28 S.W.3d 129, 138 (Tex. App.—Texarkana 2000, no pet.).
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E. Even if Plaintiff Could Establish his Claims by Clear and Specific Evidence, Plaintiff
Cannot Overcome Moving Defendants’ Qualified Privilege Defense.

Under the TCPA, even if the non-movant can make a showing of each essential element of
his claims, the Court still must dismiss the action “if the moving party establishes by a
preponderance of the evidence each essential element of a valid defense to the nonmovant’s
claim.”%42 The Moving Defendants are entitled to dismissal of the defamation claim and tortious
interference with prospective business relations claims based on the defense of qualified
privilege.1*® Ms. Rial, as the person assaulted, and Mr. Toye, as her fiancée, have an interest in the
Funimation investigation, its result, and a right to defend themselves from attack online.4* There
is no dispute that Ms. Rial believes she was assaulted by Plaintiff, or that she was aware of and
participated in the Funimation investigation.4°

Funimation, after conducting the investigation and talking with multiple witnesses and
Plaintiff, chose to terminate him.'*® Mr. Toye, was aware of multiple allegations from victims
concerning Plaintiff’s predatory actions, including his fiancée, Ms. Rial.}*” Further, the
contemporaneous articles written about Plaintiff along with numerous statements by individuals

online support Mr. Toye’s belief that Plaintiff was a predator.1*® Not only is what they said the

142 Tex. CIv. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 27.005(d).

143 See Cain v. Hearst Corp., 878 S.W.2d 577, 582 (Tex. 1994) (“Qualified privileges against defamation exist at
common law when a communication is made in good faith and the author, the recipient or a third person, or one of
their family members, has an interest that is sufficiently affected by the communication. See Holloway v. Texas
Medical Ass’n, 757 S.W.2d 810, 813 (Tex.App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 1988, writ denied). A communication may also
be conditionally privileged if it affects an important public interest.”); Hanssen v. Our Redeemer Lutheran Church,
938 S.W.2d 85, 93 (Tex. App.—Dallas 1996, writ denied) (“ORLC neither entertained serious doubts as to the truth
of the statements nor made these statements with a high degree of awareness of their probable falsity. The
communications appeared accurate, ORLC reasonably believed Shiffer, and church members and parents who
received information had an interest in the funds and information about the funds.”).

144 See infra Section 11, 11 20-22, 35, 37; see Toye Depo. at pp. 41-42, 57-63, 71-72, 74, 119-120.

145 See infra Section 11, 11 20-22.

146 See infra Section 11, 7 35.

147 See Toye Depo. at pp. 41-42, 57-63, 71-72, 74, 119-120.

148 See infra Section 11, 1 34.
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truth, because Ms. Rial and Mr. Toye reasonably believed it, even if they were mistaken, they are
not liable to Plaintiff based on the qualified privilege.'*°
F. Plaintiff is Libel Proof.

Finally, setting aside the massive causation problem that Plaintiff has showing any
statements by the Moving Defendants caused him injury, he is libel proof. Plaintiff is libel proof
not only because of the Defamatory Articles, but based on his own admissions, i.e. persistent
rumors of pedophilia (undoubtedly advanced by his public behavior with young girls), have
followed him for years.™® Under such circumstances, he is libel proof and therefore cannot
151

establish damages.

VI.
CONCLUSION AND PRAYER

For these reasons, the Moving Defendants respectfully request the Court grant an Order as
follows:
1) Dismissal of all of Plaintiff’s claims against the Moving Defendants;
2) An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in accordance with the TCPA;

3) A hearing in which Plaintiff is present for cross-examination for determination of an
appropriate sanction; and

149 See Hanssen, 938 S.W.2d at 93.

150 See infra Section 11, 11 14-18, 25-30, 35-37.

151 See Swate v. Schiffers, 975 S.W.2d 70, 74-75 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 1998, pet. denied) (“Although the three
statements Swate complains about may be false, the earlier newspaper articles and the disciplinary orders describe
conduct that would have ruined Swate's reputation prior to the publication of Schiffers's article. For example, one
disciplinary order established that Swate had failed to complete abortions performed on several patients, and that he
had failed to repair lacerations which occurred during abortion procedures. As a result of this conduct, the Texas Board
of Medical Examiners placed Swate on probation for five years. Another order established that Swate continued to
function as a physician, despite having been placed on probation, by operating two methadone clinics. These actions,
and others, were reported in the numerous newspaper articles that were included in the defendants' summary
judgement evidence. While we need not include all of the details of these articles, let it suffice to say that Swate has
been the target of extensive negative media attention for at least ten years, so much so that it is impossible to believe
Swate's reputation could have been further damaged by the statements in Schiffers's article. Without injury, the trial
court's order granting the defendants' motion for summary judgment was proper. As a result, we overrule this issue.”).
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4) Such other and further relief to which the Moving Defendants may be justly entitled.

Dated: July 19, 2019. Respectfully submitted,

[s/ J. Sean Lemoine

J. Sean Lemoine

State Bar No. 24027443
sean.lemoine@wickphillips.com

WICK PHILLIPS GOULD & MARTIN, LLP
3131 McKinney Ave., Suite 100

Dallas, Texas 75204

Telephone: (214) 692-6200

and

Cowles & Thompson

Casey S. Erick

State Bar No.: 24028564

901 Main Street, Suite 3900

Dallas, Texas 75202

Email: cerick@cowlesthompson.com

and

Andrea Perez

State Bar No.: 24070402

Email: aperez@kesslercollins.com
Kessler Collins, P.C.

2100 Ross Avenue, Suite 750
Dallas, Texas 75201

Tel. (214) 379-0732

Fax. (214) 373-4714

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
MONICA RIAL AND RONALD TOYE

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on July 19, 2019, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served on all
counsel of record in accordance with Rule 21a of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure.

/s/J. Sean Lemoine
J. Sean Lemoine
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1 Exhibit 27 Screenshot of a tweet 2/8/19........... 275 1 MR. BEARD: Okay. Counsel has agreed that
2 2 the only people that will be watching this live stream
REQUESTED DOCUMENTS/INFORMATION 3 are the parties and counsel, and that it will not be
3 4 recorded or otherwise distributed without agreement of
NO. DESCRIPTION PAGE
4 5 all the parties.
NONE 4ttt et et e e e et e e e e e 6 MR. ERICK: That's agreed.
5 7 MR. LEMOINE: That's correct.
6 CERTIFIED QUESTIONS 8 MR. JOHNSON: That's agreed.
7 NO. PAGE/LINE 9 MR. LEMOINE: One other -- one other thing.
8 NONE ottt ittt i ittt e
0 10 This lady sitting in the black with the gray sweater
10 11 hasn't introduced herself, has she?
11 12 MR. BEARD: No. She's Lisa Hansell, she's
12 13 our witness consultant.
13 14 MR. LEMOINE: Okay. She's a jury
14 15 consultant of some sort?
iz 16 MR. BEARD: Witness, but, yeah, my -- my
17 17 office.
18 18 MR. LEMOINE: All right. One other
19 19 agreement, can we have an agreement that objection for
20 20 one of the Defendants is an objection for all, so we
2 21 don't jump all over each other?
22
23 *XXXX identifies redacted names in the transcript per 2 MR- JORNSON: - Agreed.
confidentiality stipulation 23 MR. LEMOINE: All right. And I don't know
24 24 if everybody wants to do consecutive deposition
25 25 numbering so that it would be throughout the
6 8
1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: And we're going on the 1 depositions, since I suspect there will be a large
2 record in the videotaped deposition of Mr. Victor 2 number of them, but, Mr. Beard, that's up to you.
3 Mignogna. Today's date is June 26th, 2019. The time is 3 MR. BEARD: In other words, one objection
4 10:05 a.m. 4 that you guys -- that one person makes is deemed to
5 At this time, will counsel please state 5 be --
6 their appearances for the record, and then the court 6 MR. LEMOINE: Oh, I'm -- I'm sorry.
7 reporter will swear in the witness. 7 MR. BEARD: -- made for all?
8 MR. BEARD: Ty Beard for the Plaintiff. 8 MR. LEMOINE: That -- that's an agreement
9 MR. ERICK: Casey Erick for Defendants 9 for the Defendants, that way we don't have to keep
10 Monica Rial, Ron Toye. 10 objecting.
11 MR. LEMOINE: Sean Lemoine for the 11 MR. BEARD: I was wondering what I was
12 Defendants Monica Rial and Ron -- Ron Toye. 12 involved in.
13 MR. VOLNEY: John Volney for Funimation. 13 MR. LEMOINE: The agreement, what I was
14 MR. JOHNSON: Sam Johnson for Jamie Marchi. 14 asking everybody at the table, because I can't dictate
15 MR. BEARD: Go ahead and announce. 15 this, is consecutive deposition numbering, meaning we
16 MS. CHRISTIE: Carey Christie for Vic 16 start today at 1, and if we go to 42, and then tomorrow
17 Mignogna. 17 there's a new deposition, 1 through 42 stays set, you'll
18 MR. LEMOINE: And then we have appearing by 18 have them, you can use the 1 through 42, and then any
19 Zoom, which is a teleconference, we have Ethan Minshull 19 new depositions would start at 43. That way, when you
20 from Wick Phillips and Andrea Perez from Kessler 20 go to trial and you're playing deposition testimony, the
21 Collins. And, also, Ms. Marchi and Mr. Toye, and I 21 42nd deposition exhibit is the same in every deposition.
22 think Ms. Rial, are joining by Zoom. 22 Does that make sense?
23 And do you want to do the -- 23 MR. BEARD: No. But --
24 MR. BEARD: Yeah. We're on the record? 24 MR. JOHNSON: If I may jump in, he means
25 MR. LEMOINE: Yeah. 25 consecutive exhibit numbering.
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MR. BEARD: Oh, sure, yeah, that's fine.

11

A. For film and television.

2 MR. LEMOINE: What am I saying? 2 Q. Okay. Is she -- to your knowledge, has she
3 MR. JOHNSON: You're saying consecutive 3 ever been a witness consultant?
4 deposition -- 4 A. I don't know anything about --
5 MS. CHRISTIE: Deposition. 5 Q. As you sit here today, is she -- do you -- have
6 MR. JOHNSON: -- numbering. 6 you hired her to be your witness consultant?
7 MR. BEARD: Yeah. 7 A. I have not hired her.
8 MR. LEMOINE: I got it. 8 MR. LEMOINE: Okay. Then I'm going to ask
9 MR. BEARD: Yeah, that's fine. 9 that Ms. Hansell be excluded from the deposition.
10 MR. LEMOINE: Okay. Any -- anything else 10 MR. BEARD: Counsel, I hired her. But
11 we need to discuss? Read and sign, I assume? 11 that's fine, she can be excluded.
12 MR. BEARD: No. 12 MR. LEMOINE: Okay.
13 MR. LEMOINE: Okay. 13 (Ms. Hansell exits.)
14 THE REPORTER: You don't want to read and 14 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Have you ever been deposed
15 sign? 15 before, Mr. Mignogna?
16 MR. BEARD: Oh, I'm sorry. Help me out 16 A. No, sir.
17 here. 17 Q. Have you ever had to give testimony in any
18 MR. LEMOINE: Do you want Mr. -- is it 18 capacity before?
19 Mignogna? 19 A. Yes, sir.
20 THE WITNESS: Mignogna, yes, sir. 20 Q. In what capacity?
21 MR. LEMOINE: Very good. Mr. Mignogna to 21 A. I was a police officer for a time, and in my
22 read his deposition and sign it when it's over? 22 job capacity, I -- I would have to testify against
23 MR. BEARD: Oh, yeah. 23 defendants that I arrested and give testimony.
24 MR. LEMOINE: Okay. 24 Q. And when were you a police officer?
25 MR. BEARD: Absolutely. I'm sorry, I was 25 A. A long time ago. Roughly '86, '87, in
10 12
1 - 1 Maryland.
2 MR. LEMOINE: Yeah, I thought that's -- 2 Q. And how long were you a police -- and how long
3 MR. BEARD: I was -- I was a thousand miles 3 were you a police officer, a year?
4 away. 4 A. Roughly two years, on and off.
5 MR. LEMOINE: That's what I thought. All 5 Q. And when you -- when you say on and off, were
6 right. Are we otherwise ready? 6 you some kind of auxiliary police officer?
7 (Oath administered.) 7 A. Well, no, I -- well, I was a -- I was a
8 THE REPORTER: This will be taken under the 8 seasonal officer, went through a -- the - the necessary
9 Texas Rules of Civil Procedure? 9 degree of training and sworn in, powers of arrest, etc.
10 VICTOR MIGNOGNA, 10 Q. Were you allowed to carry a pistol?
11 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 11 A. Yes, sir. And -- I'm sorry.
12 DIRECT EXAMINATION 12 Q. Go ahead.
13 BY MR. LEMOINE: 13 A. And then at some point they realized that I had
14 Q. Would you state your name for the record. 14 a background in film and television and they asked me to
15 A. Victor Joseph Mignogna. 15 -- to start making PSAs and commercials for
16 Q. Mr. Mignogna, would you identify the woman with 16 pedestrian-related, citizen-related videos to help
17 the black shawl and gray shirt. Who is she? 17 educate the -- the -- the public. That's why I meant on
18 A. Her name is Lisa Hansell. 18 and off. I -- I started doing the video stuff toward
19 Q. And what does she do for a living? 19 the end.
20 A. For a living? 20 Q. When did you stop being a police officer?
21 Q. Yeah. Do you know? 21 A. It was just a couple of years, so, I guess, you
22 A. She does several things, but among other 22 know, roughly -- again, I -- I don't remember the years,
23 things, she does makeup work and production work. 23 specifically, but a couple of years.
24 Q. And when you say makeup work and production 24 Q. And why did you cease being a police officer?
25 work, is that in some kind of -- 25 A. It was never a career move, it was a -- 1t was
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something that I thought would be interesting to do

15

Q. And who refers you -- as you to the Fuhrer?

2 right out of college. I mean, it wasn't something I 2 A. Many years ago, members of my fan club, the
3 intended to do for a long period of time. g Risembool Rangers, thought that it would just be fun,
4 Q. Were you terminated or did you voluntarily 4 since it was kind of a nickname of the fan club, that
5 quit? B they were kind of Risembool -- that they were Rangers,
6 A. No, I voluntarily quit. 6 and somebody made it up as a joke. I had nothing to do
7 Q. BApart from your attorneys, have you talked to 7 with it. It was short-lived. I didn't make it up, I
8 anybody in preparation for this deposition? 8 didn't condone it, it was just a -- something some fan
9 A. No. 9 made up.
10 Q. What have you done to prepare for this 10 Q. Do you know if your mother ever referred to you
11 deposition? 11 as the Fuhrer?
12 A. Just spoken with my attorneys and prepared. 12 A. Not to my knowledge.
13 Q. Did you review any documents to refresh your 13 Q. And when you say short-lived, short-lived like
14 recollection about any events that you might be 14 how long, few days, few weeks?
15 discussing today? 15 A. I don't even know. I haven't heard that
16 A. No, sir. 16 reference in a very long time until you just said it.
17 Q. Are there any medications that you're on that 17 Q. I take it that when the -- the Risembool
18 would prevent you from testifying truthfully? 18 Rangers started referring to you as the Fuhrer, you --
19 No, sir. 19 you understood the inappropriateness of something like
20 Q. Is there anything that you can think of that 20 that, correct?
21 would prevent you from testifying truthfully today? 21 A. I didn't really have any feeling about it.
22 A. No, sir. 22 Q. Well, can you associate for me any other human
23 Q. What's your full name? 23 being that's been called the Fuhrer besides Adolph
24 A. Victor Joseph Mignogna. 24 Hitler?
25 Q. How old are you? 25 A. Not to my knowledge.

14 16
1 A. Fifty-six. 1 Q. All right. And so you would agree with me that
2 Q. Do you ever go by any nicknames? 2 it would be inappropriate for you to have a nickname or
3 A. Vic. 3 condone a nickname like the Fuhrer?
4 Q. Is that it? 4 A. I never condoned it.
5 A. Yes. 5 Q. Okay. And you would agree with me that would
6 Q. What about the Fuhrer, ever be -- ever go by 6 be in -- inappropriate for people to call you that, but
7l the nickname the Fuhrer? 7 you don't support that kind of nonsense, do you?
8 A. No. 8 A. I don't fully understand.
9 Q. Have any -- 9 Q. Sure.
10 MR. BEARD: Excuse me -- 10 A. Can you rephrase?
11 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Are you aware of -- 11 Q. If somebody called me the Fuhrer, I would tell
12 MR. BEARD: -- Counsel, could you say that 12 them to stop immediately, because it's anti-Semitic and
13 louder? 13 refers to a time in our history where terrible things
14 MR. LEMOINE: The Fuhrer. 14 were done to Jewish people. Do you -- do you have that
15 MR. BEARD: The Fuhrer? 15 same feeling?
16 MR. LEMOINE: Yeah. 16 A. Of course I do.
17 MR. BEARD: As in Adolph Hitler? 17 Q. Okay. So you would agree with me that if there
18 MR. LEMOINE: I don't know. 18 were people out there calling you the Fuhrer, one of the
19 MR. BEARD: Is that how it's spelled? 19 things you would do would be to intervene to stop that?
20 MR. LEMOINE: Yes. 20 A. I knew that they were fans who meant nothing by
21 MR. BEARD: Okay. Sorry. 21 it. They're young people. And I didn't address it one
22 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Are you aware of there being 22 way or the other, and it died off.
23 any group of people out there in -- in -- in the world 23 MR. LEMOINE: All right. 1I'll object as
24 that refer to you as the Fuhrer? 24 nonresponsive.
25 A. Yes. 25 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) My question was not what you
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19

1 think the fans might believe, but if you agree, they 1 A. I don't know her birthday.
2 would be -- 2 Q. How do you know she's of age?
3 A. I believe you asked me if they would -- if I 3 A. Because she's clearly of age.
4 told them to stop, and I said no. And my answer to that 4 Q. All right. How many hours does miss --
5 is, no, because they were fans and I knew they didn't 5 A. She's out of college, she has a job, she's
6 mean anything by it. Their intentions were nothing more 6 clearly of age.
7 than playful, and so I didn't address it and it died 7 Q. How much time does she devote to the --
8 off. 8 A. I have no idea, sir.
9 Q. Does the Risembool Rangers, do they have a 9 Q. -- moderator?
10 definitions page somewhere? 10 A. I'm sorry.
11 A. I don't know. 11 Q. Where do you currently live?
12 Q. That's not something you have anything to do 12 A. Grapevine, Texas.
13 with? 13 Q. And how long have you lived in Grapevine?
14 A. No, sir. 14 A. Since late December of last year.
15 Q. Is there any adult that monitors this -- 15 Q. And where did you live prior to that?
16 A. Yes. 16 A. I went back and forth between Los Angeles and
17 Q. -- Risembool Rangers page? 17 Houston.
18 A. Sorry. Sorry. Not supposed to overlap. I 18 Are you married?
19 apologize. 19 A. No, sir.
20 Yes. 20 Q. Have you ever been married?
21 Q. And who's that adult? 21 A. Yes, sir.
22 A. I don't -- I don't specifically know all their 22 Q. How long were you married?
23 names, but we have moderators. We've always had 23 A. Six -- a little over six years.
24 moderators of legal age to make sure that any of the, 24 Q. From when to when?
25 like, forums and -- and places where the fans would 25 A. '95 to 2000, mid 2000.
18 20
1 gather to chat, were safe places where -- where there 1 Q. Do you have any children?
2 wasn't any inappropriate discussions or challenges or 2 A. No, sir.
3 bullying. 3 Q. What's the highest level of formal education
4 Q. Okay. And so do you know who any of these 4 you've ever obtained?
5 moderators are? 5 A. I have a bachelor's degree in science.
6 A. I know some -- they've changed over the years, 6 Q. Where did you get that?
7 because, again, they're volunteers, they're fans who &z A. Arts and science. From Liberty University.
8 just offered to help. 8 Q. In Virginia?
9 Q. And who screens them to make sure they're of 9 A. Yes, sir.
10 legal age? 10 Q. When did you graduate?
11 I'm sorry? 11 A. '86.
12 Who screens them to make sure they're of legal 12 Q. And after you left Liberty, that's when you
13 age? 13 became a police officer in Maryland?
14 A. The other moderators who are of legal age. 14 And I know it's been a long time, so I'm
15 Q. Who screens that moderator? 15 not trying to --
16 A. I'm sure at some point in time I -- I probably 16 A. I know. So sorry.
17 had spoken to someone who I knew was of legal age. 17 Q. I'm not trying to trap you on dates.
18 Q. As you sit here today, can you identify one 18 A. No, I -- I -- I know, I'm just trying to work
19 person? 19 it out. When I said on and off, if I may, I guess, if I
20 A. I'm sorry? 20 -
21 Q. As you sit here today, can you identify one 21 Sure. Go ahead.
22 person who is of legal age that is a moderator on the 22 -- may clarify.
23 Risembool Rangers page? 23 As I mentioned, I was a seasonal officer.
24 A. Alyssa Fluty. 24 There are cities in Maryland that are vacation towns and
25 Q. And how old is she? 25 they hire additional officers for -- for the -- for the
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23

1 seasons. And my senior year in college, I was hired. 1 Thirteen, twelve, thirteen.
2 And then I went back to college so I wasn't there any 2 Q. When was your first paying job in the movie or
3 more. And then after college, I went back and did it 3 --
4 for another year and a half or so. That's what I meant 4 A I have no --
5 by on and off. 5 Q. -- TV production?
6 Q. Okay. Did you teach at a school after you 6 A I have no recollection.
i graduated Liberty University? 7 Q. How long would you say that you've been in the
8 Yes, sir. 8 public spotlight?
9 Q. What school did you teach at? 9 A. Being in the public spotlight is kind of
10 A. Trinity Christian Academy. 10 subjective, you know, like what one person would
11 Q. Where's that located? 11 consider celebrity or whatever, I don't --
12 A. Jacksonville, Florida. 12 Q. Okay.
13 Q. What did you teach? 13 A. I -- I -- I couldn't answer that.
14 A. I taught English and speech. 14 Q. That's fair. Let me -- let me -- let me do it
15 Q. And how long did you teach there? 15 this way. Do you consider yourself to be a celebrity?
16 A. A year. 16 No.
17 Q. And why did you leave? 17 Q. Okay. Why not?
18 A. Because, again, it was not a career move. It 18 A. Because I don't.
19 was not my intention to be a teacher. It was an 19 Q. You've been in movies before?
20 opportunity that was offered to me right after college. 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. Were you -- did you resign or were you 21 Q. You've been on TV shows?
22 terminated? 22 A. Yes, sir.
23 A. I actually don't even recall. 23 Q. You have voice acted for, what, hundreds of
24 Q. Were there any allegations of inappropriate 24 Japanese anime films?
25 behavior between you -- 25 A. Yes, sir.
22 24
1 A Not to my knowledge. 1 Q. You go to conventions where thousands of people
2 Q. Let me get my question out. 2 show up?
3 A Sorry. 3 A. Yes, sir.
4 Q. Were there any allegations of inappropriate 4 Q. You've taken -- over the course of your, let's
5 behavior between you and any students at this school in 5 say last 20 years, you've probably taken pictures with
6 Jacksonville that led to your resignation or 6 over 10,000 people; is that fair?
7l termination? 7 I don't know an exact number.
8 A. Not to my knowledge. 8 Q. Well, I mean, is it more or less than 10,000?
9 Q. And you would agree with me that if you were 9 A. I couldn't answer. I couldn't tell you.
10 terminated for inappropriate behavior or allegations of 10 Q. Well, how many people --
11 inappropriate behavior with children, that's something 11 A. I haven't kept count. Sorry.
12 you'd remember? 12 Q. Well, do you think it's more than 100?
13 A. Certainly. Of course it was 30 years ago. 13 A. Sure.
14 Q. Okay. But even 30 years ago, if you were 14 Q. All right. What's the last convention you went
15 accused of inappropriate behavior with children at your 15 to?
16 first job after graduating the Christian school of 16 A. I was at an event last weekend in Dublin,
17 Liberty University -- 17 Ireland.
18 A. Uh-huh. 18 Q. How many people did you take pictures with
19 Q. -- that's something that would stick with you, 19 there?
20 isn't it? 20 A. I didn't count.
21 A. Yes, sir. 21 Q. More than 100?
22 Q. When did you first become involved in movies or 22 A. Probably not.
23 theater or TV production? 23 Q. Do you consider yourself to be a celebrity in
24 A. Since I was very young. 24 the American voice actor community?
25 Q. All right. When -- 25 A. I don't feel like it's for me to say whether
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Q. Is that part of how you make a living?

2 Q. Okay. Anybody a more popular voice actor in 2 A. Certainly.

3 the, I guess, American anime community than you? &) Q. And I assume these conventions are open to the

4 A. I'm sorry, would you ask that again, please? 4 public?

5 Q. Yeah. I mean -- all right. You're -- you're S A. Yes, sir.

6 -- I know you're involved in cartoons, or something like 6 Q. And lots of people come and watch or meet you

7 that, so how would you describe what it is you do for a 7l at these conventions?

8 living? 8 A. Yes, sir.

9 A. I provide English voices for Japanese anime 9 Q. What's the largest number of people that you

10 that is -- that is dubbed into English. 10 think you've ever spoken to at one of these conventions?

11 Q. Okay. And is there a -- is there a lingo that 11 A. I have no idea.

12 we can use in this deposition for that? 12 Q. More than 20?

13 A. Voice actor. 13 A. Sure.

14 Q. BAmerican voice actor? 14 Q. More than 100?

15 A. Voice actor. 15 A. Probably.

16 Q. Okay. All right. Is there anybody that you 16 Q. More than 500?

17 know of in the voice acting community that is more -- 17 A. That's the point at which I wouldn't -- I

18 has more celebrity than you? 18 wouldn't be able to comment specifically.

19 A. 1I've never really thought about it. 19 Q. Are you usually in a room of the same size that

20 Q. So as you sit here today, you don't know if 20 we're in right now?

21 there's anybody that has more, what we call celebrity, 21 The sizes of the rooms vary.

22 than you? 22 Are they bigger or smaller than the room we're

23 A. No, I do not. 23 in?

24 Q. I mean, is -- is your -- is your reputation as 24 They vary.

25 a voice actor, is that important to you? 25 Well, on average, are they bigger or smaller
26 28

1 Yes. 1 than this room?

2 Why? 2 A. They vary.

3 A. My reputation, in general, is important to me. 3 Q. Okay. What's the smallest?

4 MR. LEMOINE: Object as nonresponsive. 4 A. 1I've been in rooms, large rooms, that had a

5 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Is your reputation as a voice 5 small amount of people, I've been in small rooms that

6 actor important to you? 6 have had a larger number of people. I mean, they're --

7 A. Of course. 7 they vary.

8 Q. Okay. Why? 8 Is your personal reputation important to you?

9 A. Because it reflects on me as a person, it 9 A Yes, sir.

10 reflects on me as a professional in a field. 10 Q. Why is that? Why?

11 Q. And -- and do you feel like you have a positive 11 A. The same reason anyone's is important to them.

12 reputation as a voice actor in your field? 12 Q Well, not anyone is suing my clients for

13 A. I believe I do. 13 defamation. You are, sir. So why is your reputation

14 Q. And how long have you had that, what you would 14 important to you?

15 call, positive reputation? 15 A. Well, because it goes to credibility, it goes

16 A. Well, I've been a voice actor for almost 20 16 to the opportunity to continue to work and be hired.

17 years, so I can only assume that since I've been hired 17 Q. Anything else?

18 repeatedly for, you know, over 20 years, that somebody 18 A. Nothing comes to mind at the time.

19 must think I'm relatively good at what I do. 19 Q. If you think of something, feel free to jump

20 Q. And over the last 20 years, have you attended 20 back in. It's not a power --

21 conventions or Japanese anime films? 21 A. Yes, sir.

22 A. Yes, sir. 22 Q. 1It's not a power test.

23 Q. Is that a -- is that how -- part of how you 23 With regard to your credibility, how has

24 make a living? 24 whatever you think Mr. Toye has said, how has that hurt

25 A. Sorry? 25  your credibility?
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1 A. Mr. Toye has made a large number of public 1 Q. Have you sent retraction letters to anybody
2 assertions to which there is no evidence or proof. 2 else?
3 They're very negative, they're -- they're defamatory. 8 A. No, sir.
4 Q. Okay. 4 Q. Would you agree with me that the damage to your
5 A. And -- sorry. 5 personal reputation is also damaging to your fan base?
6 Q. No, you get to answer until you're done. 6 A. Possibly.
7 A. No, go ahead. I'm -- I apologize. 7 Q. Would you agree with me that if this litigation
8 Q. So Mr. Toye has made allegations that you would 8 was resolved in one form or fashion, that that would be
9 consider to be uncredible? 9 a benefit to your fan base?
10 A. Yes, sir. 10 A. Would you rephrase that, please?
11 Q. All right. And so if those aren't credible 11 Q. Yeah. If this litigation was resolved, that
12 allegations, that really hasn't hurt your credibility, 12 would -- that would help your fan base, wouldn't it?
13 has it? 13 A. I don't know.
14 A. There's a matter of public perception that I 14 Q. Well, for instance --
15 think we can all agree is -- 1is pretty prevalent and 15 A. 1I've never been involved in anything like this.
16 powerful these days. 16 I don't really know what the outcome would be or how it
17 Q. I understand what public perception is. I'm 17 would affect anything.
18 trying to figure out whether or not somehow your 18 Q. Okay. How about this for an example: If the
19 credibility has been hurt by what Mr. Toye has said. 19 litigation was resolved today, your fan base could save
20 A. Yes, I believe it has. 20 their money and not donate to the GoFundMe campaign
21 Q. Okay. How? 21 that's been set up for you. Would you agree with that?
22 A. By altering the perception of people that make 22 A. I have nothing to do with that.
23 decisions about my work and career. 23 MR. LEMOINE: Objection, nonresponsive.
24 Q. All right. And is Mr. Toye the only person 24 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Would you agree with me that
25 that's had this negative impact on the perception of 25 if this litigation got resolved, then your fan base

30 32
1 people that hire in your line of work? 1 wouldn't have to donate to your GoFundMe campaign?
2 A. No, I don't believe so. 2 A. They don't have to donate. No one is
3 Q. Other than Ms. Rial and Ms. Marchi, anyone else 8 compelling them to donate.
4 that's done anything to hurt the -- your credibility in 4 Q. And no one's asking them to donate?
5 the voice acting industry? N A I'm sorry?
6 A. I'm sure. 6 Q. And no one's asking them to donate?
i Q. Can you identify any of them, as you sit here 7 A Not that I know of. I have nothing to do with
8 right now? 8 that.
9 A. No, sir, not -- not by name. Many of them are 9 Q. Do you know how the money is spent?
10 screen names, you know, on a computer, you don't know 10 A. No, sir.
11 who they are, you don't know where they live, you know, 11 Q. So who makes sure the money is actually spent
12 you -- you can't know, really. 12 for your benefit?
13 Q. You would agree with me that the allegations 13 A. I didn't set it up. I don't know anything
14 surrounding your alleged homophobia, anti-Semitism, and 14 about it.
15 sexual harassment are being discussed publicly, correct? 15 MR. LEMOINE: Objection, nonresponsive.
16 A. They are being discussed publicly, yes. 16 A. I don't know.
17 Q. And because of that public discussion, that's 17 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) So you have a GoFundMe
18 hurting your credibility, isn't it? 18 campaign out there in your name. Do you know how much
19 A. Yes, sir. 19 money is in it?
20 Q. And it's not just Mr. Toye and Ms. Marchi and 20 A. No, sir.
21 Ms. Rial that are discussing that; is that correct? 21 Q. You have no clue?
22 A. Yes, sir. 22 A. No, sir.
23 Q. Are you suing anybody else, as we sit here 23 Q. So somebody is raising money with your name and
24 today? 24 face on a GoFundMe page. Do you agree with that?
25 A. No, sir. 25 A. That's what I've been told, yes.
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1 Q. And you have no idea -- do you know who runs 1 want to have 600 text messages. So if you and I have a
7] that account? 2] conversation about a particular thing, where are we

3 A. Do I know who funds the account? 3 going to lunch today, whatever, once that conversation
4 Q. Runs the account. 4 is over, I delete it.

B A. Oh. I believe it was set up by a gentleman 5 Q. All right. Have you ever done a factory reset
6 named Nick Rekieta. 6 on your phone?

7 How do you spell Rekieta? 7 A. No, sir.

8 I don't know. R-E-K-E -- 8 Q. Do you ever take your phone and put a lightning
9 MR. BEARD: I-E. 9 cord in it -- well, strike that.

10 A. -- E-I-T-A -- I-E -- I-E-T-A. 10 What kind of phone do you use?

11 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) All right. Do you know Mr. 11 A. 1iPhone.

12 Rekieta? 12 Q. All right. Do you ever plug your iPhone into
13 A. I'd never met him until, for the first time, a 13 your laptop?

14 couple of weeks ago. 14 A. I have, yes.

15 Where did you meet him at? 15 Q. When's the last time you did that?

16 A. I met him at an anime convention in Houston. 16 A. I don't recall. It's been a while, actually.
17 Q. Is he your attorney? 17 Q. Have you done anything to remove communications
18 A. No, sir. 18 off your laptop?

19 Q. Has he ever represented you? 19 No.
20 A. No, sir. 20 Q. All right. Do you have an iCloud account?
21 Q. Have you ever communicated with Mr. Rekieta by 21 A No -- wait.

22 email, text, any type of application on your phone? 22 Q. Just --

23 A. Briefly. 23 A I --I--1I--1Imay, yes, actually.

24 Q. About what? 24 Q. And do you know whether or not your phone backs
25 A. He wrote me back in, probably, February. I 25 up to your iCloud account?

34 36

1 didn't know who he was, it was unsolicited, and I did 1 A. I don't know.

2 not reply. And then it was brought to my attention that 2 Q. Do you have some type of administrator that

g there was a gentleman on the internet who was making 3 would help you with that, that handles --

4 videos and -- and being very supportive of -- of my 4 A. No.

B situation. And when they told me his name, I went back 5 Q. So Mr. Rekieta communicates with you in

6 into my email and looked up to see if that was the 6 February of 2019, for the first time, and at some point
2 person that had contacted me, and it was. And so I sent 7 you reach back out to him and you-all have a

8 him an email and thanked him for his support. 8 conversation.

9 Q. Is that the only exchange that you-all had or 9 Who came up with the idea of the GoFundMe
10 have you-all had continuous email, text message? 10 campaign?

11 Occasionally. 11 A. Mr. Rekieta.

12 Q. Did you talk about this litigation? 12 Q. And what was the purpose of the GoFundMe

13 A. Briefly. 13 campaign?

14 Q. Do you know what his cell number is? 14 A. You'll have to ask Mr. Rekieta.

15 A. No, sir. 15 Q. What did Mr. Rekieta tell you the purpose of
16 Q. Is it stored in your phone somewhere? 16 the GoFundMe campaign was?

17 A. Yes, sir. 17 A. He said that he believed that the people who
18 Q. When's the last time you got a text message 18 supported my position wanted to help in any way they

19 from Mr. Rekieta? 19 could. And he said he was going to provide them a way
20 A. I don't recall. 20 to do so, if they chose to.

21 Q. Have you done anything to delete any 21 Q. And you told him that was okay with you?

22 communications off your, either email or phone, or other 22 A. No. I did not give him permission. He had

23 electronic devices, from Mr. Rekieta? 23 already done it.

24 A. Well, I -- I have a routine of, once I finish a 24 Q. Okay. Did you -- did he ask for permission

25 conversation with somebody, I delete it because I don't 25 after he did it?
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a charitable

1 A. No, sir. over, as you say, would go to a charity,

2 Q. All right. You do realize that people have put 2 cause.

3 hundreds -- over $100,000 into that GoFundMe account? 3 Q. And who picked the charitable cause?

4 Did you know that? 4 A. I don't remember.

5 A. If -- if that's the number you're telling me, 5 Q. Does it strike you as odd that there's someone
6 then I believe you. Voluntarily. I -- I believe. I 6 out there raising money in your name and you can't tell
7 don't think anyone's been compelled to do anything. & me how that money is being spent?

8 Q. Did you ask Mr. Rekieta to set up this GoFundMe 8 A. No, sir.

9 campaign? 9 Q. Do you feel no responsibility to make sure --
10 A. No, sir. 10 A. No, sir.

11 Q. It was a complete shock to you when it 11 Sorry.

12 occurred? 12 MR. LEMOINE: Objection.

13 A. Define complete shock. 13 A. I apologize.

14 Q. Well -- 14 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Thank you. So you feel no
15 A. That sounds rather, you know -- 15 responsibility to the --

16 Q. Well, how about this: How many GoFundMe 16 MR. BEARD: Objection, form.

17 campaigns have been set up for your benefit, without 17 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) -- tens or thousands of

18 your knowledge, in your lifetime? 18 people that are putting money into this GoFundMe

19 A. None that I'm aware of. 19 campaign to make sure you know how the money is being
20 Q. So this is the first? 20 spent?

21 A. As far as I know. 21 MR. BEARD: Objection, form.

22 Q. And Mr. Rekieta wasn't a friend of yours when 22 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Are you -- you struggling

23 it was set up, was he? 23 with that question?

24 A. No, sir. 24 A. No, sir. I'm --

25 Q. All right. So would you agree with me that 25 Q. Are you going to answer it?

38 40

1 that was kind of shocking, that a random individual that 1 A. I'm responding to my --

2 you don't know sets up a GoFundMe campaign? 2 MR. BEARD: You can answer the question,
3} It was unexpected. 3 I'm sorry.

4 Q. Did you ever bless him doing that? 4 A. -- attorney's objection.

5 A. No. 5 Q. (BY MR. LEMOINE) Oh. Unless he tells you not
6 Q. Are you okay with 